
Agenda Report 

TO: CITY COUNCIL DATE: DECEMBER 12,2005 

FROM: CITY MANAGER 

SUBJECT: CALL FOR REVIEW OF HILLSIDE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT #4458, 
1 147 LA LOMA ROAD. 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council: 

1. Acknowledge that this action is categorically exempt from CEQA; and 

2. Approve Hillside Development Permit M458 to allow: 

a. Hillside Development Permit - Construction of single-family house with the 
condition that the size of the house (not including the garage) not exceed 3,699 
square feet; and 

b. Private Tree Removal - Removal of three Coast Live Oak (Quercus agrifolia) 
trees. 

BACKGROUND 

The applicants, and property owners, have submitted 1) a Hillside Development Permit 
application to allow the construction of a two-story, 5,092 square foot single-family 
house, plus 575 square foot attached garage and 2) Private Tree Removal applications 
for the removal of three Coast Live Oak (Quercus agrifolia) trees. 

Staff reviewed the applications and found they comply with all applicable provisions of 
the Zoning Code with the exception of the Neighborhood Compatibility measurement for 
maximum allowable size of the house. Staff recommended that the Hearing Officer 
approve the Hillside Development Permit and Private Tree Removal applications with 
the condition that the proposed house (not including garage) be reduced to 3,699 
square feet to comply with the Neighborhood Compatibility guideline. 

The Hearing Officer approved the applications as recommended by staff at the 
September 7, 2005 public hearing. The applicants appealed that decision to the Board 
of Zoning Appeals (BZA) who sustained the decision of the Hearing Officer but modified 
the size condition noted above to permit the house to be 5,092 square feet, not 
including the 575 square foot attached garage. The BZA decision was called for review 
by the City Council on November 7, 2005. 
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ANALYSIS 

Hillside Development Permit - Construction of new single-familv house. 

The applicant is proposing to construct a new house totaling 5,092 square feet, plus an 
attached 575 square foot garage for a total of 5,667 square feet. The 2,300 square foot 
single-story house currently on the property would be demolished. The new house 
would be located in generally the same location as the existing house and would utilize 
the existing driveway. There are several mature trees located between La Loma Road 
and the proposed house that will obscure visibility of the new house from the public 
right-of-way. 

The maximum allowable gross floor area (all enclosed space) for this property is limited 
by two factors, 1) lot size and 2) average slope. In this case, the lot size of 36,856 
square feet and the average slope of 12.6% result in a maximum gross floor area of 
9,714 square feet, 4,047 square feet more than is proposed. 

The Hillside Ordinance also has a Neighborhood Compatibility guideline that limits the 
gross floor area of a house, not including garage area, to 35% over the median floor 
area of houses within 500 feet of the subject property. The median home size within 
500 feet (69 homes) is 2,740 square feet. Thirty-five percent above the median of these 
69 homes is 3,699 square feet. The new house is proposed to be 5,092 square feet in 
size, not counting the attached garage. Thus, the home is 1,393 square feet above the 
Neighborhood Compatibility maximum. 

Staff only recommends approval of a house that meets the Neighborhood Compatibility 
maximum, but advise the decision maker that under the Zoning Code, "The review 
authority may approve additional floor area following a review of site conditions and 
compliance with the remainder of the Hillside District standards." In this instance the 
Hearing Officer chose to not exceed the Neighborhood Compatibility maximum. The 
BZA utilized the provision that allows for flexibility in relation to Neighborhood 
Compatibility and that this proposal was different for the following reasons: 1) the new 
house would be in the approximate location of the existing house; 2) the subject 
property is one of the largest lots in the area; 3) the average slope of the lot is less than 
15%; and 4) the proposed house complies with all the other development standards of 
the Zoning Code (Attachment A, finding #7). 

The Hillside District Ordinance sets two height limits. First, the maximum height of a 
primary residence can be no more than 28 feet at any one point on the property and the 
maximum height as measured from the lowest part of the house to the highest cannot 
exceed 35 feet. As proposed, the highest point of the house, as well as the overall 
height would be 27'-2" 

The minimum setback requirements are 25 feet in the front and rear and 10 feet on the 
sides. As proposed, the house exceeds these requirements as the setbacks would be 
130 feet in the front, 110 in the rear, and 14 on each side. 

At the Hearing Officer public hearing the neighbor to the immediate west stated 
concerns involving past drainage of water down from the subject property. Mitigating 
such run-off is required by the Building Division during the building permit plan check 
stage, however, the applicants have already hired an engineer to prepare a plan that 
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calls for the construction of a two-foot wall along the west property line to direct water 
run-off to La Loma Road. This drainage has been preliminary reviewed by the Building 
Division. 

The new house does not occupy a ridge or prominent location and would occupy 
approximately 11 % of the property. Based on its compliance with the Zoning Code and 
Hillside Ordinance, staff recommends approval of the proposed house, with the findings 
in Attachment B and conditions in Attachments D, E, F. Condition of approval # I4  in 
Attachment D limits the size of the house, not including garage, to 3,699 square feet, to 
comply with the Neighborhood Compatibility guideline. 

Private Tree Removal - Removal of three Coast Live Oak (Quercus aqrifolia) trees. 

The preliminary tree inventory repodtree protection plan submitted for this project on 
behalf of the applicants' consulting arborist identified 70 trees on the property with a 
minimum diameter of 4 inches. The proposed project includes the removal of nine of 
these trees: four Coast Live Oak trees (#'s 14, 25, 26, and 30), one Carob tree (#27), 
one Olive tree (#31), and three Pink Melaleucas (#'s 63, 64, and 65). 

Of the nine trees slated for removal, three of the Coast Live Oak trees (#Is 14, 25, and 
26) are protected by the City's Tree Protection Ordinance. The remaining Coast Live 
Oak tree (#30) and the Olive tree, while on the list of protected tree species and larger 
than the minimum diameter protection size, are not located in a protection zone 
(established front yard, required side yard, or required rear yard). The Carob and Pink 
Melaleucas are not on the list of protected tree species. 

The tree protection plan also recommends several steps that should be taken in order to 
minimize the chance of damage to various trees due to construction activities such as 
protective fencing and arborist monitoring of construction activities. This report and the 
actions detailed in it will be used by city staff during construction to ensure that all trees 
on site are appropriately protected during construction. The report also recommends 
actions, such as pruning, that should be taken in order to preserve or improve the health 
of trees on site. 

In addition to the report submitted by the applicants, the City had an independent 
analysis performed by the firm Land Design Consultants (LDC). Staff from LDC visited 
the site on July 9, 2005 and evaluated the health of the three protected trees proposed 
for removal. The analysis and recommendations are summarized below. 

Tree Diameter Height Spread Condition Rating Recommendation 

# I4  (Coast Live Oak) 18 inches 33 feet 25 feet Very Poor Remove Tree 
Comment: Tree has been damaged due to an adjacent tree falling on it. The health of 

the tree is declining as evidenced by reduced canopy and small leaf size. 

#25 (Coast Live Oak) 17 inches 35 feet 25 feet Poor Remove Tree 
I Comment: Tree health declining due to infestation with fungus and insects. Vigor is 

poor and new growth is stunted and diseased. 
#26 (Coast Live Oak) 20 inches 35 feet 29 feet Poor Remove Tree 
Comment: Tree is declining in health under existing conditions. Current landscaping . - 

and irrigation conditions have lead to fugal infection of the branches. 
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Based on the analyses performed by Mr. Scow and the LDC staff, staff has determined 
that the trees are not reasonably likely to survive as all three trees shows signs of decay 
and pest andlor fungal infestation. Therefore, staff is recommending that the necessary 
findings be made to recommend approval of the removal of these three Coast Live Oak 
trees. 

Staff has also reviewed a preliminary landscape plan that calls for the replacement of 
these three Coast Live Oak trees with three 24-inch-box Coast Live Oak trees (one in 
the front of the property and two in the rear) and seven 15-gallon Carolina Laurel Cherry 
trees along the west property line to the rear of the house to provide additional 
screening of the house. That will bring the total number of trees on the site to 71, one 
more than exists currently. 

Staff has conferred with the landscape architect who prepared the preliminary 
landscape plan. Based on the tree canopy of all nine trees proposed for removal and 
the ten trees proposed to be planted, the existing tree canopy will not be matched with 
the new trees. This is intentional because the large existing tree canopy has created a 
situation where the trees are competing for sunlight and soil nourishment; a situation 
that is not beneficial to the trees and ground vegetation. The proposed landscape plan 
is intended to improve the health of the trees on the site. 

ENVIRONMENTAL DETERMINATION 

This project has been determined to be exempt from environmental review pursuant to 
the guidelines of the California Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code 
§21080(b)(9); Administrative Code, Title 14, Chapter 3, Class 1 S15303, New 
Construction or Conversion of Small Structures). This class exemption addresses the 
construction of a single-family home if it is in an area that has all utilities and there are 
no significant environmental impacts. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The project will generate plan check permit fees and c~nstruction tax. Once 
constructed, the project will generate increased revenues from p ropep  taxes. 

Associate Planner 

* T j ?  b" 
- 

Richard 'J.(%ckner, Director 
Planning $dpevelopment Department 
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